

Open Research Online

The Open University's repository of research publications and other research outputs

Migration and development: theoretical legacies and analytical agendas in the age of rising powers

Book Section

How to cite:

Raghuram, Parvati (2020). Migration and development: theoretical legacies and analytical agendas in the age of rising powers. In: Bastia, Tanja and Skeldon, Ronald eds. Routledge Handbook of Migration and Development. Abingdon: Routledge, pp. 43–53.

For guidance on citations see [FAQs](#).

© 2020 selection and editorial matter Tanja Bastia and Ronald Skeldon; individual chapters, the contributors



<https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/>

Version: Accepted Manuscript

Link(s) to article on publisher's website:

<http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.4324/9781315276908>

Copyright and Moral Rights for the articles on this site are retained by the individual authors and/or other copyright owners. For more information on Open Research Online's data [policy](#) on reuse of materials please consult the policies page.

oro.open.ac.uk

Migration and development in the age of Rising Powers: theoretical legacies and analytical agendas

Parvati Raghuram

Geography Department

The Open University

Milton Keynes

MK7 6AA

Email: Parvati.Raghuram@open.ac.uk

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1841-5613>

Migration and development in the age of Rising Powers: theoretical legacies and analytical agendas

Abstract

The growth of the ‘Rising Powers’ has had an impact on migration – some new patterns have emerged, others have intensified and still others have declined. This chapter explores what provocations Rising Powers pose for existing theorisations in the field of migration and development. It outlines the intellectual inheritances into which the new patterns of migratory growth and dynamism offered by the ‘Rising Powers’ intervenes. It begins by providing a broad overview of binary theories of migration and development before turning to those that go beyond these binaries and conceptualise the multiplicities of trajectories in migration and development thinking. It suggests that the effect of the existing conceptual landscape is that analyses of the Rising Powers tend to veer between theorising the Rising Powers as mid-way in both development and migration pathways or as offering new endpoints for migration streams. The Rising Powers thus raise the interesting question – are they the new middle of a well-known trajectory, or are they offering new pathways and outcomes for migration and development? Or can we reimagine migration and development within the context of a multipolar world? The chapter ends by offering a series of empirical and analytical questions that the Rising Powers pose for scholarship on migration and development.

Keywords: binaries, development, migration, Rising Powers, middle, multipolar

Migration in the age of Rising Powers: theoretical legacies and analytical agendas

Introduction

Economic growth in the global South has begun to dominate world imagination (World Bank 2011; UNDP 2013). With different nomenclatures – BRICs (Brazil, Russia, India China), Rising Powers, emerging countries, E7 - these countries seem to occupy newspaper headlines and book stands (Sidaway 2012). China and, to some extent, India, have been at the centre of the rhetoric of Rising Power but the range of countries that are supposedly rising is much larger and is also dynamic. It includes the BRICs as well as countries like Colombia, Indonesia, Vietnam, Egypt, Turkey and South Africa (CIVETS). This has led to what Pieterse (2011) calls a global rebalancing.

The growth of the so-called Rising Powers has had an impact on migration – some new patterns have emerged while others have intensified (Dumont et al. 2010). Return migration to the global South has been noted, particularly among skilled professionals who are taking advantage of the opportunities that their home countries now provide (Jain 2012). New patterns of migration from North to South have also emerged, such as, for instance, from Portugal to Angola (Åkesson 2016). Secondly, there has been an intensification of old South-South migration alongside new corridors of mobility (IOM 2017; Bodomo 2009; Park and Chen 2009).

The topic of migration and development has become a key area of research and policy as attempts have been made to slow South-North migration through in-situ development

packages (Council of Europe 2003; de Haas 2007). Moreover, remittances now play an increasingly acknowledged part in development (Alonso 2011; World Bank 2008). However, the place of Rising Powers in theories of migration and development is yet to be analysed. This chapter fills that gap. It outlines some of the options and challenges that these Rising Powers offer for theorising migration and development.

The Rising Powers are sometimes theorised as if they are replacing or joining the countries that are developed, at other times as mid-points within the binary thinking that has haunted both the migration and development literatures. They offer versions of the middle (Fangjun, 2009; Kennedy, 2010). However, this chapter argues that they are better conceived as disrupting these binaries (Noxolo et al., 2013). It suggests that the empirical variations within the global South as well as the different types of transformations that those countries are going through makes a multi-polar world a more useful way of conceptualising the Rising Powers. The chapter ends by offering some empirical and analytical questions that the Rising Powers raises for future research on migration and development.

Dominant binaries in migration and development thinking

Binary thinking has dominated both migration and development literatures and hence, the migration-development nexus literature, too. Migration theory binaries include, for instance, sending-receiving, origin-destination or some other forms of a 'here-there' analysis (IOM 2017; UN DESA 2015). Similarly, development theories also have their own binaries: modern-traditional, First-World – Third World, Global North- South or

core-periphery (See Table 1) although development practice, through, for instance, the Sustainable Development Goals has taken a more variegated, or global approach to development. Yet, the effects of this are not yet evident in either theorisations or policy around migration and development.

Table 1 about here

As a result, approaches to migration and development, too, have a set of binaries which are widely used in tracking and analysing migration within its own analytic lens, terminology, direction of travel, location of migrants, direction of developmental efforts and location of development (see Table 2: de Haas 2010; Düvell et al. 2012). There are two different versions of place which are at play in this analysis of binaries. The first, often underpinned by modernisation theories, holds places as distinctive and different. The second involves theorising connections between places through Marxist influenced theories such as dependency, or phenomenology influenced theories of transnationalism. This section explores these different forms of binary thinking.

Table 2 about here

The first version of migration and development thinking is influenced by modernisation theories and by its underpinning neo-classical economic theories of migration. Here, opportunities in one country and the openings it offers are compared with those in another and the differences between the two are said to trigger migration (Grossman and

Stadelmann 2013). In these push-pull theories migration is conceptualised as linking distinctive places which are marked by difference – higher/lower wages, better/worse economic opportunities, a safer/dangerous environment and so on. Migrants respond to these differences between places through calculation and movement (van Hear et al. 2018). The vectors of difference between ‘here’ and ‘there’ become the causative factors for migration (see Raghuram 2013). One of the most highly political and policy relevant versions of this difference is in the case of brain drain migration or migration of the highly skilled, especially those in the social reproduction sectors. For example, health worker migration from sub-Saharan Africa is undoubtedly shaped by wage differentials and variations in working conditions between sending and receiving countries (WHO 2010). Policies to stem such mobility and to bridge the gap between the two places often involve increasing the wages or improving working conditions in sending contexts (for a critique see Raghuram 2009).

A second version of binary thinking emphasises connections, not only difference. There are at least two connective arguments in migration and development theory. The first focuses on the economic causes and consequences of migration and the inequalities that underpin this. They differ from neoclassical theories in digging deep into the reasons why some places are more desirable and by linking this to how inequalities are produced between places. The approach is summarised by Stephen Castles (2009) as a combination of the virtuous circle and vicious circle. A virtuous circle is one where migrants who leave poor countries enhance development in areas they leave behind by drawing down fewer resources, reducing competition and by remitting. They then spur development in

Commented [RS1]: Essentially, you are alluding to the old push-pull binary that was so influential in early migration work and still persists in the shadows – see the paper by Van Hear, Bakewell and Long in JEMS vol. 44 2018.

Commented [P2R1]: Thanks. I have cited it.

the countries they leave behind. Theorisations of the virtuous cycle draw on the optimism of modernisation theory.

In contrast, and drawing on Marxist thinking, a more vicious circle is envisaged in what Castles (2009) calls historical-institutional approaches to migration and development. Here, the migration leads to or is part of a wider negative set of relationships. Countries at the core of the world economy draw in highly skilled labour, for instance, from peripheral countries who lose this labour (Sassen 2000). Migrants withdraw resources through their movement and teach social behaviour such as consumption patterns which results in dependency on imported goods which in turn lead to greater dependence on the core countries.

A second way of theorising place connections is through the lens of transnationalism. This framework focuses on connections, seeing them as enactments of the attachments that migrants form to multiple places (Basch, Glick-Schiller and Szanton-Blanc 1994). Research adopting a transnational perspective emphasises the agency of migrants who maintain these relations across space and offers us a way of thinking about migration at scales other than that of the nation-state, a concept further emphasised through the term 'translocalism' (Greiner and Sakdapolrak 2013).

How do the Rising Powers fit into these binary theories of migration and development? Depending on how the Rising Powers are conceptualised the answer will differ. If they are seen to replace or join existing powers (see for instance, Ramo 2004) then the binary

Commented [RS3]: I don't think this sentence is very clear or adds much to the argument. I suggest it be deleted.

still stands. This is best exemplified by Samir Amin (2007) who argues that the Rising Powers do not imply change. If growth is sustained then the Rising Powers have only added to or replaced other centres of capitalist accumulation. The benefits of the same processes of accumulation by dispossession will simply be transferred to the Rising Powers. Development and migration will look the same. It is only that development is now located elsewhere and migration is oriented in a new direction. We may ask will the Rising Powers become additional destinations or alternative destinations?

Beyond the binary in migration and development thinking – versions of the middle

However, the Rising Powers may also be understood as following in the footsteps of existing powers (Fangjun 2009). Whether their ‘rising’ is seen as economic, as political, as the ability to influence foreign policy, they could, arguably, be seen to occupy a space in-between (Table 3).

[Table 3 about here](#)

As a result, at least three intermediate positions can also be envisaged in migration and development as outlined below.

First, in response to an often-posed question on whether migration leads to development or development leads to migration, theorists have identified that some degree of development is necessary for migration – it is not the poorest from any country, or indeed

those from the poorest countries who migrate (Castles 2009). In Rostowian terms, then, it is the pre-take-off and the take-off countries that show the greatest migration and this was conceptualised as the migration-hump: a certain degree of development was necessary for migration to take place (Martin and Taylor 1996). This necessarily focuses on the middle stages of development, positing the middle in economic terms.

Theories of a migration hump can easily be moulded into analyses of Rising Powers. For instance, the significant increase in Chinese and Indian migrants, particularly students and the entrepreneurial classes, may be seen as a direct result of economic growth. Much of the analysis of migration in the context of the Rising Powers has implicitly adopted this framework, focusing primarily on the greater numbers of people migrating out of these countries both on short-term visits (Leung 2012) and for longer stays (Xiang 2003). It is worth noting that the relationship between emigration policy and growth policies need a separate analysis, at least in the case of China so that increase in emigration cannot simply be read as a result of growth alone. Nor is it recent. These migrations draw upon the connections and possibilities offered by earlier migrant flows and the transnational Indian and Chinese communities, for instance, that have settled in many parts of the world.

Some of this research has adopted the nuances of modernisation as a process of increasing human and cultural capital, focusing specifically on the mobility of students and highly skilled professionals (Zhang 2003; and for their deskilling see Li and Li 2008). The aspirations of the citizens of the Rising Powers also lead educational

Commented [RS4]: And a tradition of labour migration controlled by great powers, either within the boundaries of an empire, in the case of the Indians and to some extent the Chinese, or by the opening up of new areas by the US.

Commented [PSR4]: Not sure if you wanted me to add this in?

institutions to relocate to these countries in order to facilitate the social and class mobility that being part of the Rising Powers enables (Feng 2013). Hence, it is not only people who are becoming mobile but also, for instance, educational institutions which give existing powers, an opportunity to benefit from the Rising Powers (Ahmad and Buchanan 2015).

[Table 4 about here](#)

Secondly, the geographical middle in the migration trajectory too, has become the object of attention (Table 4). The in-between places along the migration route, the transit zones, offer ideal places for controlling mobility (Stock 2012). In an age of anxiety over migration these places have catapulted into prominence in the imagination of those working in migration and development. Transit zones are identified as areas through which migrants move usually along a South-North axis, whether from Africa to Europe or Central America to the US. The countries in-between are those that border the destination sites (Düvell et al. 2012; IOM 2017). They have become places of investment because potentially they are sites where ‘unwanted’ migration can be stalled in return for development aid. They are thus both borders of control of migration and increasingly significant sites for mobilizing policies on migration and development. They have also been incorporated into theories of development through the increasing significance of the mobility paradigm in social sciences. For instance, Schapendonk (2011) shows with great sensitivity the range of trajectories and experiences in the European borderlands, the

transit zones, while İçduygu and Yüksek (2012) highlight the ways in which these zones are being securitised.

Some of these discussions have used the language of transition but increasingly there are also voices critiquing this terminology (Collyer and de Haas 2011). For instance, Düvell et al. (2012) argue that the term transit is dependent on and can reinforce the idea of departure and arrival which are the central categories for much migration research. For them, the term problematically denotes simultaneously a place, a destination and a viewpoint. Currently, evidence of the extent to which Rising Powers become transit zones (as well as source and destination) is not adequate for theoretical analysis.

Interesting questions may also be asked about how neighbouring countries may become transit zones on the way to the Rising Powers (or indeed destinations in their own right) but there is no research on this, thus far. There is, however, some evidence of China becoming an alternative destination to Europe and the US, a less desirable but more achievable destination for migrants from Nigeria (Haugen 2012).

A third more analytical intervention, drawing on Marxist thinking, is offered by Sandro Mezzadra (2010). He argues, writing in the context of Europe, that European borders exist not to seal off Europe from migrants from Africa but rather to selectively include and exclude migrants. He develops this into a third way of thinking about the middle. He argues that the processes of inclusion and exclusion produce the category of irregular migrants on whom the flexibility of capital in Europe and everywhere else is dependent. These transit zones are thus, simultaneously zones of inclusion and exclusion. They are

neither core nor periphery, but both sending and receiving, because it is through their position as a zone of transition that they enter global political relations. They lead to the reshuffling of the coordinates of Europe (Cobarrubius et al. 2011).

Conceptually Mezzadra and Neilsen (2008) develop this argument by positing border as method. There is an important intervention for development studies because it suggests that instead of the key categories of North-South, developed-developing, First World-Third World, what we see today is both an increase in borders between nations but also an implosion of nations with new forms of connections between places irrespective of their location. They call this the multiplication of labour because labour for them, is shaped by a number of power hierarchies. Although they multiply the boundaries between accumulation and dispossession, the two remain dialectically linked and in a binary relationship. The implications of a diversifying South are still viewed primarily through theories of capitalism. Nevertheless, this analysis of bordering which looks at circulation and the control of populations as an inherent part of exclusion/inclusion is in some ways the most sophisticated analysis as it recognises the multiplicity of boundaries between North and South, as enacted through everyday bordering practices. It offers the possibility of both opening up and moving beyond the North-South divide, the analytical framework to which we turn next.

Beyond the middle – pluralist positions

Empirically there are as many differences between these Rising Power countries as there are similarities. For instance, Russia has never been seen as part of the global South as it

Commented [RS6]: The most sophisticated what? Approach? Analysis? Please specify.

Commented [RS7]: True but it had been close to the centre of the "Second world" that ended between 1989 and 1991, and had begun in 1945. Before that latter date (well, definitely before 1905), Russia had been one of the colonial powers and the easy assumption was that it would fall once again into that more developed category.

was a colonising power which became part of the Second world and then reverted to First World status. Instead it was already part of a set of debates around the 'end of history' and the rise of a new unipolar world order. The impact of South Africa on global development has been much less marked than that of some of the other countries included as part of the Rising Powers though it remains a significant regional hegemon. The paths to development adopted have also varied as much as the bases of power. However, together the Rising Powers have altered the nature and rhetoric of discussions around global power. Although economic growth, which is often cited as the common bases for this grouping, has not been continuous or constant, the Rising Powers can be seen to foster a new global imagination (Arrighi 2007; Ramo 2004).

Empirical reconsiderations of the binaries of migration and development thinking and attempts to conceptualise multipolarity have taken many forms (Table 5). They have highlighted the diversity of migration trajectories, the diversity of development (Raghuram 2009) and therefore the varieties of relationships between migration and development. They draw on the notion that the Rising Powers offer the possibility of revising the terms of power itself and how it is done (Arrighi and Zhang 2011; Wade 2011).

One way of multiplying the analysis of migration and development has been to show the empirical difference and dynamism in migration patterns globally. While emigrants from low-income countries are more likely to migrate to neighbouring countries, those from middle-income countries are more likely to move to high-incomes ones (Lucas 2005).

Also, regional wage differentials have led some middle-income countries to become both origin and destination countries, such as Mexico and Turkey, while others have become “migration poles”. The major middle-income migration poles are Argentina and Venezuela in South America, Jordan in the Middle East, Malaysia and Thailand in Asia, the Russian Federation, South Africa in Africa and parts of Eastern Europe. These migration poles constitute a diverse group of countries with very varied histories and types of migration – in-migration, out-migration and transit-migration. Besides, there is a mix of different kinds of migratory systems in such countries. For instance, South Africa has seen some migration from Europe, regional systems of migration with neighbouring countries and internal rural-urban migrations. Moreover, these forms of migration have all coexisted through the 20th century and been adapted and modified in this century (Kofman and Raghuram 2012). Clearly, both international and intra-national differences exist in the empirical specificities of migration and development and middle-income countries skew these variations further.

Commented [RS8]: Also, surely South Africa in Africa? You have just been discussion RSA.

Commented [RS9]: Now it is included.

[Table 5 about here](#)

These variations arguably, challenge the efficacy of the term South-South migration and its analytical hubris. For instance, the terminology suggests a commonality across the South which is empirically unsustainable (Bakewell, 2009). Migrants from Bangladesh to India do not have the same experiences as those from Zimbabwe to South Africa. Moreover, factors such as proximity may be more important in producing similarities between countries than the geopolitical construction of a unified South.

Perhaps one of the most developed systems of analysing the complexity of migration and development, both empirically and conceptually, was that offered by Ronald Skeldon (1997). He differentiates between regions on the basis of a range of criteria – economy, politics, migration patterns, among others. His classification is unique in that it takes up differences within countries and incorporates insights from his long-standing work on internal migration into wider debates on international migration. Like much more regionally sensitive and micro-scale analysis his schematisation recognises the differences within countries but he projects this into his global schema – old core, new core, core extensions and potential cores, labour frontier and resource niche. The complexity of his classification based on the range of criteria included places Skeldon's analysis not in a binary frame but in a pluralist framework

Finally, another pluralist tradition is that which draws on transformation itself as the basis for conceptualising plurality. For instance, Stephen Castles (2010) links the migration development trajectory to a variety of other transitions – demographic, rural-urban, political and economic transitions as well as shifts in the meaning of gender.

However, while he, along with others, usefully unsettles the coherence of the South in migration thinking and the dominance of the North-South axis in migration-development analyses, the challenge of theorising through and with the Rising Powers is yet to be taken up, which is the objective of the final section of this chapter.

Theoretical and empirical agenda for future research

We have looked at forms of analysis in migration and development theory where the dominance of binary thinking has been complemented by attempts to unsettle the binary (Düvell et al., 2012). These endeavours have involved both thinking through the middle where the trajectory of the binary remains largely unreconstructed, and by research and thinking that emphasises the multiplicity of flows of development as well as migration. The first places the middle alongside the other ends of the binary as part of a teleology offering, in some instances, a place and modality for development. The second purportedly moves away from a binary, although the extent to which it does so is often debatable. Nevertheless, both these approaches have offered rich, if different ways, of theorising, which complement or unsettle the binaries of both migration and development thinking.

Most of the migration and development literature looks at mobility, not as a way of allowing nations to reach out and influence, but simply as border crossing across sovereign national boundaries. Yet, in a globalising world, mobility is a central modality through which economic and political power is exercised. Both capital growth and political influence are acquired through the movement of people and these mobilities are necessary for the countries to extend their reach. Migration and development are not cause and effect but a necessary relationship. Migration is a way of governing societies, not just an object of governance by society (Bærenholdt 2013). It is a journey, not a beginning or an endpoint and therefore suggests the need to focus on the practices of

mobility and migration as inherent to and part of development. This also enables us to move past the South-North binary in both migration and development.

Moreover, there exist a range of other conceptualisations from which migration and development theories can draw in analysing the Rising Powers. I point to three rich forms of theorisation on which this literature could draw. In the first, the logic of development as a particular form of modernisation is itself questioned in this multipolar world (Table 6). Postcolonial theorists like Dilip Gaonkar (2001) argue that these multipolarities suggest the importance of alternative modernities where countries will forge their own path to development or to state formation (Chatterjee, 1997). For instance, Kang (2007) argues, using the case of China, that instead of seeking to understand Asia's future in Europe's past (as in modernisation), it is Asia's own past that explains the story of Asia's Rise. He uses history and *culture* as the basis for identifying these alternatives.

A second body of work developed by Walter D. Mignolo (2011) argues that these alternatives were made possible by a combination of de-westernisation and de-coloniality. De-westernisation consists of the politics of the economics of rising countries. These politics may be, but are not necessarily, new as they may follow a capitalist path (albeit a different form of capitalism). Much more important for him, however, is another change that is also emerging, that of decoloniality. Decoloniality is an epistemic shift which brings far-reaching change to both the content and the nature of conversation (2011b) of knowledge. It involves unsettling the coloniality of knowledge systems, which have been dominated thus far by Eurocentric processes and thought and

Commented [RS10]: I am not sure about these words but they must be developed elsewhere. However, can we at least introduce the hyphen? I makes the words look a little more "presentable".

which put European definitions of development centre stage. Instead, it requires a *cultural epistemological* shift and the importance of pluriversality for a multipolar world.

A demand to rethink the division into territorially defined North and South, i.e. **worlds**, not through the lens of area studies, as it can sometimes appear in development studies, but through vectors of power has also been put forward by black theorists, feminists and postcolonial theorists. They argue that the optic of *gender, race and class* complicates the three-fold division by suggesting new kinds of alliances and different types of disagreements. Nancy Fraser (2010) calls the third world that emerges from this kind of analysis the ‘transnational precariat’. The precariat exists simultaneously in different parts of the world but are caught up in the intersectional power relationships that increasingly stretch transnationally. These three theorisations offer alternative starting points for conceptualising migration and development and an opening for further research.

I want to end by asking some questions for future research. What role does the movement of people play in the flow of goods, ideas, policies and money? When is migration a necessary part of investments abroad and what are the different kinds of mobility that these require? Thus, what role does the mobility of people play in the Rise to Power? This question may be asked historically of ‘older powers’ as well as of those which are currently seen to be emerging. Asking these questions effectively decentres the migrant as the object of study; instead power, its modalities and the part played by mobility in Rising Powers, too, become part of the focus. It also unsettles terms such as integration. For instance, we rarely ask: How do Northern migrants integrate in the global

Commented [RS11]: Remind the reader what you consider these three world to be: I assume not first, second and third worlds, which are passé, but North In-between, and South?

South? What infrastructures of integration are offered in Southern countries? What do the answers to these questions tell us about our implicit framing of questions around migration? Asking these questions points to the racial imaginaries that are implicitly contained in words like assimilation and the place attachments that are often used in the terminology, theory and practice of integration policies (and see Bakewell and Jónsson, 2011 for discussion of some of these issues within the context of African cities).

In sum, a long history of migration and development thinking exists into which the empirical phenomenon of economic growth and a global rebalancing interjects. There are a range of analytical legacies through which we can analyse migration at a global scale within the context of contemporary dynamics of the global economy. Migration and development may be seen as a binary relationship, albeit one with in-between steps. Others conceive migration and development along multipolar lines. This history of thought needs revisiting in order to better theorise migration and development in the context of rapidly changing realities. This chapter represents one small step towards this goal.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge Utrecht University where these ideas were first presented as part of an inaugural lecture. Particular thanks to the IDS group there for their friendship.

References

- Ahmad S. and Buchanan F. (2016) "Choices of destination for transnational higher education: "pull" factors in an Asia Pacific market" *Educational Studies* 42 2 163-180
- Åkesson, L. (2016). Moving beyond the colonial? New Portuguese migrants in Angola. *Cahiers d'Études Africains* LVI (1–2):267–85
- Alonso J (2011) *International Migration and Development: A review in light of the crisis*. CDP Background Paper No. 11(E). Geneva: United Nations.
- Amin S (2007) "Interviewed by Amady Aly Dieng" *Development and Change* 38 6 1149–1159
- Arrighi G (2007) *Adam Smith in Beijing: Lineages of the Twenty-First Century* London, Verso
- Arrighi G and Zhang L (2011) Beyond the Washington Consensus? A New Bandung? In: Shefner A and Fernandez-Kelly P (eds) *Globalization and Beyond: New examinations of global power and its alternatives*. University of Pennsylvania Press, 25-57
- Bærenholdt J (2013) "Government mobility: The politics of mobility" *Mobilities* 8 1 20-34
- Bakewell O and Jónsson G (2011) *Migration, mobility and the African city*. IMI Working Paper 50 Oxford
- Bakewell O (2009) *South-South Migration and Human Development: Reflections on African Experiences*. Human Development Research Papers, New York, United Nations Development Programme. Available at: http://hdr.undp.org/en/reports/global/hdr2009/papers/HDRP_2009_07.pdf. Accessed 14 October 2014.

- Basch L, Glick-Schiller N. and Szanton-Blanc C. (1994) *Nations Unbound: Transnational Projects, Postcolonial Predicaments and Deterritorialized Nation*. New York: Gordon and Breach.
- Bodomo A (2009) “The African presence in contemporary China” *China Monitor* 36: 4–9
- Castles S (2010) “Understanding global migration: a global transformation perspective” *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 36 10 1565-1586
- Castles S (2009) “Development and Migration—Migration and Development What Comes First? Global Perspective and African Experiences” *Theoria* 56 121-131
- Chatterjee P (1997) *Modernity in Two Languages*. In: Chatterjee P, *A Possible India: Essays in Political Criticism*. Delhi: Oxford University Press, 185–205
- Cobarrubias S, Cortes M and Pickles J (2011) “An interview with Sandro Mezzadra” *Environment & Planning D: Society & Space* 29 4 584-598
- Collyer M and de Haas H (2011) “Developing dynamic categorisations of transit migration” *Population, Space and Place* 18 4 468-81
- Council of Europe (2003) *Draft Council conclusions on migration and development*. 8927/03. Brussels: Council of the European Union.
- de Haas H (2007) “Turning the tide? Why development will not stop migration” *Development and Change* 38 5 819-840
- de Haas H (2010) “Migration and Development: A Theoretical Perspective” *International Migration Review* 44 1 227-264
- de Haas H (2012) “The migration and development pendulum: a critical view on research and policy” *International Migration* 50 3 8-25

Dumont J, Spielvogel G and Widmaier S (2010) *International Migrants in Developed, Emerging and Developing Countries: An Extended Profile*. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers No.11, www.oecd.org/els/workingpapers

Düvell F, Collyer M and de Haas H (2012) “Critical approaches to transit migration” *Population, Space and Place* 18 4 407-414

Fangjun C (2009) “Modernization Theory and China’s Road to Modernization” *Chinese Studies in History* 43 1 7–16

Feng Y (2013) “University of Nottingham Ningbo China and Xi’an Jiaotong-Liverpool University: globalization of higher education in China” *Higher Education* 65 4 471-485

Fraser N (2010) “Injustice at Intersecting Scales: On ‘Social Exclusion’ and the ‘Global Poor’”. *European Journal of Social Theory* 13 3 363-371

Gaonkar D (2003) *Alternative modernities*. North Carolina: Duke University Press.

Greiner C and Sakdapolrak P (2013) “Translocality: Concepts, Applications and Emerging Research Perspectives” *Geography Compass* 7 373–384

Grossmann V and Stadelmann D. (2013) “Wage Effects of High-Skilled Migration: International Evidence” *The World Bank Economic Review* 27 297–31

Haugen H (2012) “Nigerians in China: a second state of immobility” *International Migration* 50 2 65-80

İçduygu A and Yüксеker D (2012) “Rethinking transit migration in Turkey: reality and re-presentation in the creation of a migratory phenomenon” *Population, Space and Place* 18 4 441-456

- IOM (2017) *Migration in the world*. Available at: <http://www.iom.sk/en/about-migration/migration-in-the-world>. Accessed 29 November 2017.
- Jain S (2012) For love and money: second-generation Indian-Americans 'return' to India. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 36 5 896-914
- Kang D (2007) *China Rising: peace, power and order in East Asia*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kofman E and Raghuram P (2012) "Women, Migration, and Care: Explorations of Diversity and Dynamism in the Global South" *Social Politics* 19 3 408-432
- Leung M (2012) "'Read ten thousand books, walk ten thousand miles': Geographical mobility and capital accumulation among Chinese scholars" *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 38 2 311-324
- Li P and Li E (2008) "University-Educated Immigrants from China to Canada: Rising Number and Discounted Value" *Canadian Ethnic Studies* 40 3 1-16
- Ma Mung "Chinese Migration and China's Foreign Policy" *Journal of Chinese Overseas* 4 1 96-97
- Martin P and Taylor J (1996) The Anatomy of a Migration Hump. In: Taylor J (ed.) *Development Strategy, Employment, and Migration: Insights from Models*. Paris: OECD Development Centre: 43-62.
- Mezzadra S and Neilson B (2008) Border as Method, or, the Multiplication of Labor. *Transversal* 06-08 (<http://eipcp.net/transversal/0608/m...>) Accessed 10 May 2012,
- Mignolo W (2011a) "Geopolitics of sensing and knowing: on (de)coloniality, border thinking and epistemic disobedience". *Postcolonial Studies* 14 3 273-283

- Park Y and Chen A (2009) "Recent Chinese migrants in small towns of post-apartheid South Africa" *REMI* 25 1 25-44
- Pieterse J (2011) "Global Rebalancing, Crisis and the East-South Turn" *Development and Change* 42 1 22-48
- Raghuram P (2009) "Which migration, what development? unsettling the edifice of migration and development" *Population, Space and Place* 15 2 103-117
- Ramo J (2004) *The Beijing Consensus: Notes on the New Physics of Chinese Power* London, Foreign Policy Centre
- Ratha D and Shaw W (2007) *South-South Migration and Remittances*. Working Paper No. 102 Washington DC, World Bank.
- Rostow WW (1960) *The Stages of Economic Growth: A Non-Communist Manifesto*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sassen S (2002) "Women's burden: Counter-geographies of globalization and the feminization of survival" *Nordic Journal of International Law* 71 2 255-274
- Schapendonk J (2012) "Turbulent Trajectories: African Migrants on Their Way to the European Union" *Societies* 2 2 27-41
- Sidaway J (2012) "Geographies of development: new maps, new visions" *The Professional Geographer* 64 1 49-62
- Skeldon R (1997) *Migration and Development: A Global Interpretation* London: Longman.
- Stock I (2012) Gender and the dynamics of mobility: reflections on African migrant mothers and 'transit migration' in Morocco, *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 35 9 1577-1595

UN DESA (2013) Cross-national comparisons of internal migration: An update on global patterns and trends Technical Paper No. 2013/1. Available at <http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/technical/TP2013-1.pdf>. Accessed 29 November 2017.

Wade R (2011) “Emerging World Order? From Multipolarity to Multilateralism in the G20, The World Bank and the IMF” *Politics and Society* 39 3 347-378

Wiesbrock A (2008) *Return Migration as a Tool for Economic Development in China and India*. Delhi: IMDS Working Paper.

World Bank (2011) *Global Development Horizons* Washington DC.

World Bank (2008) *Migration and Remittances Factbook* Washington.

World Health Organisation (2010) International Migration of Health Workers: Improving International Co-Operation To Address The Global Health Workforce Crisis. Available at: http://www.who.int/hrh/resources/oecd-who_policy_brief_en.pdf, Accessed 20 November 2017.

Xiang B (2003) “Chinese emigration: a sending country perspective” *International Migration* 41 3 21-48

Zhang G (2003) “Migration of Highly Skilled Chinese to Europe: Trends and Perspective” *International Migration* 41 3 73-97